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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Good morning. I'm

          3  Philip Reed, Chair of the Committee on Consumer

          4  Affairs. Thank you for attending today's hearing.

          5                 We are here today to review Intro.

          6  442 concerning clarity in item pricing, as it

          7  relates to individual labeling of certain consumer

          8  goods required pursuant to Title 20, Chapter 5,

          9  Section 708-1.1 of the Administrative Code.

         10                 This is a requirement that stores

         11  price a majority of their goods individually, as an

         12  important consumer protection first legislated by

         13  the State in 1976.

         14                 In 1991, the year that the State law

         15  sunset, the City Council found that consumers were

         16  left without assurance they would be able to easily

         17  ascertain the prices of basic consumer necessities,

         18  such as groceries and paper goods.

         19                 The Council further found item

         20  pricing to be uniquely useful in comparison shopping

         21  within a store and keeping track of the total cost

         22  of items being purchased, and in discovering

         23  erroneous charges at the cash register.

         24                 Therefore, effective October 19th of

         25  1991, the Council passed legislation directing
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          2  stores operating within New York City continue to

          3  item price.

          4                 The item pricing law under the

          5  Administrative Code clearly sets forth the specific

          6  goods that must be individually priced, as well as

          7  certain exemptions and the fines for violations.

          8                 However, it has come to the Council's

          9  attention that many stores that are presently

         10  required to item price, particularly those that

         11  stock or sell large or bulk items, may not be doing

         12  so.

         13                 Accordingly, Intro. 442, sets about

         14  to raise penalties for stores that fail to comply

         15  with the law by a hundred to 150 percent. This is to

         16  put more teeth into the law.

         17                 Currently, stores that had previous

         18  calendar year sales of less than $2 million in stock

         19  keeping items are exempt from the pricing law.

         20                 Intro. 442 intends to provide

         21  consumers with further protection by broadening the

         22  scope of stores it must item price.

         23                 Pursuant to Intro. 442, the item

         24  pricing exemption would apply to stores with the

         25  previous year sales of less than $1 million in stock
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          2  keeping items.

          3                 This is our first hearing on this

          4  issue, and we've invited representatives from the

          5  Administration that read the New York Metropolitan

          6  Retail Association, the Food Industry Alliance of

          7  New York and several locals to Local 338 and Local

          8  1502, I know 1102 is here to testify today.

          9                 Before we begin taking testimony, I

         10  want to introduce my colleagues who are here today,

         11  members of the Consumer Affairs Committee. Oliver

         12  Koppell from the Bronx, Vincent Gentile from

         13  Brooklyn are here. As well is the prime sponsor of

         14  this legislation, Hiram Monserrate, from Queens. And

         15  I didn't speak to you beforehand, but I don't know,

         16  Council Member Monserrate, if you had some comments

         17  that you wanted to make? Please do.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chair. And thank you for your due diligence with

         20  respect to this important legislation, and your

         21  stewardship in ensuring that this receives prompt

         22  attention.

         23                 Clearly you have outlined some of the

         24  history and our marketplace here in the City of New

         25  York has changed dramatically since 1991, and most
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          2  recently with the impact of the influx of big box

          3  stores, such as K-Mart, Home Depot and Target into

          4  our City.

          5                 We must, as a City Council, ensure

          6  that in this new marketplace consumers remain

          7  protected. To do this, we need laws that ensure

          8  better enforcement of our current consumer laws,

          9  better education of consumers as to their rights,

         10  and we must also have legislation to ensure that our

         11  laws remain effective and up-to-date.

         12                 Item pricing is a longstanding form

         13  of consumer protection that continues to be more

         14  efficient and effective than any other technological

         15  alternative. In recent years, some stores have

         16  introduced aisle scanners. And while some of these

         17  scanners provide an additional layer of consumer

         18  protections, these scanners are not strong enough on

         19  their own to ensure consumer protection.

         20                 Apart from some of the problems that

         21  arise when consumers aren't able to locate the

         22  scanner, they also do not facilitate comparison

         23  shopping or allow the consumers to check the

         24  advertised price to their receipt.

         25                 The scanners also transfer the burden
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          2  of ensuring accurate pricing from retailers to

          3  consumers. Item pricing legislation is beneficial to

          4  all consumers by placing the cost directly on the

          5  packaging of the item. Consumers are able to clearly

          6  and easily ascertain the price, compare different

          7  brands in the store aisle, ensure they're not being

          8  overcharged at the register and to doublecheck

          9  charges with their receipt once they're at home.

         10                 Without item pricing, senior

         11  citizens, the visually impaired, and the disabled

         12  may struggle to read shelf tags placed near the

         13  floor and consumers could fall victim to millions of

         14  dollars in overcharges that could be easily avoided.

         15                 Item pricing also remains popular

         16  with consumers. A survey recently by the Campaign to

         17  Save Item Pricing in New York conducted in August

         18  and September of 2003 found that 83 percent of

         19  shoppers surveyed had used item price stickers to

         20  compare prices in a store. 84 percent had used item

         21  prices to compare the price of the item to what they

         22  were being charged at the checkout counter, and 77

         23  percent said they had used a price sticker on their

         24  groceries to compare to their receipt when they got

         25  home.

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 Intro. 442 will expand the use of

          3  item pricing throughout the City. Specifically the

          4  legislation reduces the amounts of sales a store

          5  must have before they're required to item price from

          6  2 million to 1 million during the calendar year.

          7                 The legislation also updates the

          8  rates of fines which have not been adjusted since

          9  the law was originally enacted in 1991.

         10                 We are looking forward to this

         11  hearing, and to the eventual passing of this bill.

         12  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         14  much, Council member. We're going to start testimony

         15  by hearing from the Administration. I see Andrew

         16  Eiler and Pauline Toole. And after their testimony,

         17  we're first, just so you all know the line-up here,

         18  first we're going to hear, after them we're going to

         19  hear from Donald Halperin, Louis Salcedo, and

         20  Patricia Brodhagen.

         21                 Thank you. Happy New Year to

         22  everyone. Nice to see you.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Happy

         24  New Year to you and your colleagues.

         25                 Good morning, Chairman Reed and
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          2  members of the Consumer Affairs Committee. My name

          3  is Pauline Toole. I'm an Assistant Commissioner at

          4  the Department of Consumer Affairs. I'm joined here

          5  by Andy Eiler, our Legislative Director, and we're

          6  here and pleased to come before you to talk about

          7  Intro. 442.

          8                 The proposal would amend the

          9  truth-in-pricing law by reducing the trigger level

         10  from $2 million of annual gross stock sales to a

         11  million dollars of annual gross stock sales for a

         12  retail business annually. It also would double the

         13  fines for first offenders at every level.

         14                 DCA enforced the existing law since

         15  1991 when the Council passed it. Under this law,

         16  stores that sell more than $2 million worth of

         17  covered products on a retail basis must price all

         18  such items. Some covered items, such as eggs,

         19  tobacco, small products, et cetera, don't require

         20  individual pricing, and in addition the law gives

         21  DCA authority to check the accuracy of scanning

         22  devices used in stores.

         23                 In 1992, I think it was three months

         24  after the law was enacted, DCA did an extensive

         25  survey and depicted the item price compliance in New
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          2  York as a success story, because 96 percent of the

          3  products checked at stores were priced as required

          4  by the law. Twelve of the 27 stores checked at that

          5  time had a hundred percent compliance.

          6                 In 2004, DCA conducted 1,629

          7  inspections of supermarkets. The inspections cover

          8  at a rate of requirements, including license law

          9  compliance, scale accuracy, item pricing compliance,

         10  short waste and scanner accuracy.

         11                 We issued violations to 945 stores.

         12  Item pricing violations were issued to 63

         13  supermarkets.

         14                 The bulk of violations issued to

         15  stores are for short wait violations. DCA receives

         16  approximately 5,000 complaints monthly.

         17                 Very few of those are about item

         18  pricing. In a three-month period of August through

         19  October, DCA received 37 complaints about pricing in

         20  stores. That is not just item pricing, but it's

         21  scanner accuracy pricing, the sale flyer versus the

         22  price charge, pricing of 37 total complaints, or

         23  about 12 monthly.

         24                 Contrast this with our largest

         25  complaint areas of home improvement contractors
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          2  about which we receive 900 complaints in the course

          3  of the year, or debt collectors about which we

          4  receive 500 complaints in 2004.

          5                 In short, item pricing is not an

          6  issue that rises to the top of those that harm

          7  consumers in the City. DCA is concerned that the

          8  proposal before you may not significantly protect

          9  consumers, but could place a heavy burden on small

         10  businesses.

         11                 The DCA has reservations about the

         12  proposal before you today, and urges the Council to

         13  review several issues.

         14                 First, what's the rationale for

         15  establishing a lower trigger? Two-million dollars

         16  was the appropriate trigger in 1991. There was some

         17  back and forth in how that was designed, but it was

         18  designed to capture stores that did a large volume

         19  of business, and we wonder wouldn't the pace of

         20  inflation suggest an increased trigger rather than a

         21  reduced trigger.

         22                 We wonder if the Council has done any

         23  surveying to estimate the number and type of stores

         24  that would be captioned under this proposal.

         25                 We don't really know. Some
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          2  merchandising experts have suggested to us that

          3  average supermarkets, the large supermarkets in the

          4  chain make 500 to $700,000 worth of sales per week.

          5  Obviously, those stores are covered by the existing

          6  law.

          7                 Another way to think about this lower

          8  trigger is the number of transactions the store

          9  would need to make in order to sell $1 million of

         10  products in the course of the year.

         11                 Assuming each sale is for $15, the

         12  store would need to make 182 sales daily. If the

         13  average sale is $20, the store would need to make

         14  137 sales daily, and it would not take many items to

         15  fill a $20, $15 market basket.

         16                 What's the basis for doubling the

         17  fines? The DCA has not conducted a fine analyses and

         18  do not know that doubling the fine structure is

         19  warranted. But given the high compliance rate of

         20  stores with the law, it's unlikely that the increase

         21  in fines will have any effect on recidivism.

         22                 Finally, we think consumer use

         23  patterns and technology both have changed

         24  dramatically since 1991. As the Council continues to

         25  review this topic, we would suggest an examination
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          2  of how consumers shop and how stores use technology

          3  would help to produce a law that is appropriate for

          4  the 21st century.

          5                 We've been looking at this topic, and

          6  our preliminary research shows that many counties in

          7  New York State, as well as states throughout the

          8  nation, relied on tough scanner accuracy laws to

          9  achieve fair pricing.

         10                 What lessons have these other

         11  jurisdictions learned? Would consumers in New York

         12  City be protected in the shopping environment that

         13  relies on scanner accuracy to guarantee fair

         14  pricing?

         15                 How do consumers determine what they

         16  will pay? Do they use item prices, sale flyers,

         17  shelf prices, store signs? As consumers shop on-line

         18  and in box stores, what protections are needed? How

         19  should accuracy and pricing be determined in all of

         20  these situations?

         21                 We urge the Council to conduct a more

         22  complete review prior to pursuing passing this

         23  proposal. We'd be happy to work with you on that. If

         24  you have questions, I would try to answer them.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very
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          2  much. We've been joined by our colleague from

          3  Queens, Dennis Gallagher. Thank you. Good morning.

          4                 I'm not reading from the script here

          5  of questions, but I'm struck in your testimony,

          6  Commissioner, that you said that shortly after the

          7  law was put into effect, you issued a press release.

          8  Something unusual, we don't know about those things.

          9  And you depicted this as a success story.

         10                 And then in your testimony you tell

         11  me that in 2004 you conducted 1,629 inspections. We

         12  issued 945 violations to stores and so and so. Is

         13  that a success story?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: We

         15  think it is. And the representatives of the industry

         16  can speak about that much better. Looking solely at

         17  item pricing, we find that most stores are in

         18  compliance.

         19                 The biggest issue we have is short

         20  weights in the stores, and that has been an issue --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Do you want to

         22  define that for us.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Short

         24  weights is an item that has less in it than you're

         25  lead to believe it has in. And that's been an issue
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          2  since commerce has begun, and the Department of

          3  Consumer Affairs before it had all its divisions,

          4  the City had a weights and measures division, and

          5  that's one of the things that they looked at.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Should we increase

          7  the fines for short weights?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I don't

          9  know. I think it would merit a fine analysis to

         10  determine, you know, if recidivism would be reduced.

         11  It's a state law Andy points out, so you would have

         12  to make a recommendation to the State Legislature.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Andy.

         14                 MR. EILER: I believe that the short

         15  weighting is this, weights and measures is under the

         16  State law, so we enforce the State law provisions

         17  under that, so any changes in that structure would

         18  have to be done through the State.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I know much has

         20  been made of the fact that the Department of

         21  Consumer Affairs has cross-trained their inspectors.

         22  So, in keeping with that, does that mean that all of

         23  your inspectors are also now trained to go and make

         24  these inspections, and this is done randomly?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: We
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          2  conduct the inspections in two ways: One is based on

          3  complaints. So, if a person complains that they have

          4  somehow been misled by a store or there was a

          5  violation of a store, we'll ask for a special

          6  inspection and the borough directors will

          7  incorporate that request into the routes of their

          8  inspectors.

          9                 And, secondly, the Borough Directors

         10  develop regular routes for their inspectors so they

         11  will hit a number of kinds of businesses in one

         12  geographic locale.

         13                 And, as to the cross-training, it

         14  does make a big difference, because in the past, the

         15  Department had squads that only did one kind of

         16  inspection, and now by putting them together, we're

         17  able to increase the efficiency of the inspectors

         18  but still maintain a really high number of

         19  inspections in the course of the year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, in other words,

         21  if we can expect that if an inspector goes out to a

         22  bodego or supermarket, they're going to look at,

         23  they're going to look at all the things that would

         24  apply here, the short weights and the item pricing,

         25  et cetera?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes,

          3  that is absolutely true. They'll look at license

          4  law, they'll look at short weights, they'll look at

          5  item pricing, they'll look at scanner accuracy.

          6  There is, some stores may still be inspected twice

          7  but it will have to do not with that general

          8  inspection but another scale inspection that we

          9  sometimes do. But at that time there would also be

         10  sort of a second review of everything.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And suppose that

         12  you've inspected a store randomly, and then a month

         13  later you get a complaint about that store.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: We

         15  would go back.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You would go back

         17  out there?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes,

         19  sir.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And do you report

         21  to the complainant?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes, we

         23  do.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: In writing you tell

         25  them what you discovered?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: We tend

          3  to call, because 37 cents per letter is a lot. And

          4  we receive complaints not just by mail. We receive a

          5  very large volume through the City's 3-1-1 system,

          6  either by direct phone transfers, or through the

          7  computer transfers. And when the special inspection

          8  is warranted, the person has an issue, they identify

          9  the location of the store, and they don't just say,

         10  gee, I was charged too much and are anonymous and

         11  don't tell you where it was. We would ask for the

         12  special inspection, then we'll have people call back

         13  and tell them the results.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The intent of the

         15  legislation is to ensure that big box stores comply

         16  with the item pricing. Do you believe that this

         17  legislation accomplishes this intent?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I guess

         19  I would need to know more, but what the people who

         20  drafted it were thinking, but in my experience the

         21  box stores do a very large volume of business.

         22                 It should just, for the record, we

         23  have inspected box stores and we have issued them

         24  item pricing violations. And we will continue to do

         25  that. Reducing the trigger is not going to bring
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          2  more big box stores under the law, they are already

          3  there. And rather than reducing the penalties,

          4  increasing the penalties, one of the things we were

          5  wondering about is whether or not the Council

          6  considered eliminating that numerical cap so that if

          7  you have more than 30 items that are unlabeled, if

          8  you have 29 items, you'll pay $950. If you have 92

          9  items, you'll pay $1,000, so it's not much incentive

         10  there. So, we would wonder why you didn't look at

         11  that, and that might apply to the box stores more.

         12                 But we think the box stores already

         13  are covered under the existing law.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, I have some

         15  other questions, but Council Member Monserrate.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair.

         18                 Madam, you have testified today that

         19  you believe, it is your belief, or the belief of

         20  your agency that big box stores are currently

         21  covered by the existing legislation?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: And you

         24  also stated that your agency has, in fact, already

         25  enforced and issued violations to some of those big
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          2  box stores?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Do you

          5  have any idea how many violations have been issued?

          6                 Would that be reflected in your

          7  testimony where you have outlined that you conducted

          8  1,629 inspections of supermarkets; is that one in

          9  the same? Or would that be a separate category?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I think

         11  it's in the same category. I actually sent an e-mail

         12  asking for clarification on that point. But I know

         13  that there were box stores in Queens to which we

         14  issued item pricing violations, and we would record

         15  that, say we went into a store and there were up to

         16  30 violations, they had violations, we would record

         17  that as one, not as a thousand, in our record

         18  keeping. Because that way you have one store that's

         19  in violation, even though they might have multiple

         20  counts. But that is included in the numbers.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So, right

         22  here, "we issued 945 stores, so whether that store

         23  was issued one summons or 100 summonses, it's still

         24  listed as one store, right?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: They
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          2  would probably be issued, well, something like that.

          3  They would be issued, in all likelihood, one

          4  violation, but the violation would have multiple

          5  counts on it. So that would be, let's just for

          6  argument's sake we went out in January, we issued a

          7  violation, that had 30 counts on it. Someone

          8  complained we went out in July and issued a

          9  violation, they've had 15 counts. We wouldn't count

         10  that as 45, we would count that as two. Two

         11  violations issued on the two times we went.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So, in

         13  your testimony, when you testified, "we issued

         14  violations to 945 stores," let's say, I don't know

         15  what the average of summonses are. I'm sure there's

         16  a very wide discrepancy as to how many violations

         17  are issued per store when you do an on-site visit.

         18  So, this number is just the store, it's not, clearly

         19  not the amount of violations?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: It's

         21  the number of violations issued to the store.

         22                 If there were no violations issued,

         23  there's no number. If there was a violation issued

         24  and it had multiple counts, it would be one

         25  violation, but the store would have to deal with
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          2  multiple counts when they came in.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay. So,

          4  I think we're clearer now, it's the store per se,

          5  not the amount of violations?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: It's

          7  the amount of violations. I mean, you might count it

          8  differently, if you were doing the system. But the

          9  way the system works is that if the store gets a

         10  violation, it's a violation, it might have multiple

         11  counts.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: All right,

         13  let me ask you this: I go into supermarket A, or big

         14  box store A, and you find that my scales are

         15  inaccurate, that I'm not item pricing, and that I'm

         16  in fact overcharging for items. I'm assuming that

         17  would be three different violations in the law?

         18                 MR. EILER: Yes, it would be three

         19  separate violations. It would be violations of three

         20  separate laws, or provisions of laws. It would be,

         21  on a violation, the way it's categorized, it would

         22  be a store having a violation with three counts, and

         23  then even since you have each individual unmarked

         24  item as a separate violation, even if you have an

         25  item-pricing violation, you may have 25 counts of
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          2  items not having been marked.

          3                 So, that's how it would work in terms

          4  of the system, in terms of describing it.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I guess

          6  then maybe, if I could take the leisure, Mr. Chair?

          7  A more accurate way, a more informative way to

          8  testify, or to give us information, is probably

          9  total amount of summonses issued.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: That's

         11  what we gave you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So the

         13  total --

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: There's

         15  a different number of counts.

         16                 Those are the summonses issued.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: It says

         18  here "we issued violations to 945 stores."

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: They

         20  are.

         21                 MR. EILER: That's what it is. There's

         22  that many summonses were issued, and in those

         23  summonses, there may have been multiple violations

         24  of laws that were defined.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED: It doesn't mean
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          2  there's 900 and whatever the number is stores.

          3  That's how many violations you gave out.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well,

          5  yes, 945. I have to get back to the testimony.

          6                 MR. EILER: Nine-hundred and

          7  forty-five, yes.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:

          9  Nine-hundred and forty-five stores received

         10  violations.

         11                 MR. EILER: Right.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: And the

         13  violations were either for one count, or they were

         14  for multiple counts, multiple laws being violated.

         15                 So, if we went into your store and we

         16  received three violations, three counts, we would

         17  have one violation in our system. In your store you

         18  received six, we'd have one violation but multiple

         19  counts. And when you came in to sort of have, for

         20  your hearing, you would sort of be dealt with

         21  according to the number of counts that you had.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay, I

         23  think I'm a little more clearer on that.

         24                 I have another question. So, your

         25  opinion, or the opinion of your agency, is that big
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          2  box stores are currently covered, and that summonses

          3  -- do you know how many summonses have been issued

          4  to those big box stores?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I don't

          6  know that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Is there

          8  any way you can report that to us?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:

         10  Certainly, we can find that out.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you

         12  very much.

         13                 The other question I have is, with

         14  response to the trigger, you've raised questions as

         15  to rationale for lowering the trigger. If you or

         16  your agency were able to support this legislation,

         17  what would you identify or prescribe as an

         18  appropriate trigger point?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I don't

         20  know. I think we'd like to look at what's the

         21  pattern of commerce in the City. We'd like to hear

         22  from representatives of small business owners, and,

         23  you know, find out how they actually go about

         24  ensuring that they're telling their customers what

         25  the pricing is.
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          2                 We'd like to hear from larger stores

          3  about how they think they can guarantee consumers

          4  know what prices are and be fair about it and try

          5  and come up with a rational that seem to truly

          6  protect consumers, but allow for changes in the way

          7  our world operates.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Well, let

          9  me say this: Now that I know your agency does in

         10  fact enforce item pricing and big box stores, I'll

         11  send you a lot of information of the stores that are

         12  violating in the Borough of Queens.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: We'd

         14  love that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Where I

         16  shop actually. And I can tell you that I don't

         17  recall too many items being priced.

         18                 But let me ask you this: What would

         19  be in your opinion the best way to ensure that the

         20  big box stores comply with item pricing?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well,

         22  presuming that they know the law, I think that -- I

         23  think one of the things that this Department has

         24  done on every law that we are charged with enforcing

         25  is we tried to reach out to businesses to explain
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          2  what the law is, so that they're clear, but we also

          3  believe that education is only part of the process,

          4  and the other process is effective and fair

          5  enforcement. And that acts as a deterrent to bad

          6  business habits, and we will effectively and fairly

          7  enforce the law.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: But you

          9  cannot testify today to us how many times you've

         10  enforced the law at a big box store?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Not

         12  broken out from the other number of supermarkets and

         13  stores that we inspected, no.

         14                 But we would be happy to find that

         15  from you, now that we know that's what you're

         16  interested in.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 I just wanted to, in your testimony

         20  you talked about eliminating a numerical cap. Can

         21  you explain that a little more, in more detail, what

         22  your thought was?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: In

         24  Section 2708 1f2, that's the site, A and B, in the

         25  first violation a store would pay $25 for the first
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          2  20 violations, and $50 for the 21st violation

          3  onward. On the second inspection within two weeks,

          4  they would pay up to $4,000. But the amount that is,

          5  the amount of violations that can be written is

          6  capped at 30. So, a store that received 29

          7  violations is going to be paying 29 times the fine,

          8  but if you have twice that many, your fine only

          9  increases by $50. So, looking at that, if you think

         10  that there's a real problem with item pricing

         11  compliance in large stores, one way of reviewing

         12  that, rather than increasing the base fine, which

         13  would effect every single store, the large and the

         14  small, would be to look at removing the cap.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you

         16  very much.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Sure.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: I think

         19  that was some good insight.

         20                 Mr. Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         22                 Commissioner, licenses, people have

         23  to renew their licenses every year, every two years?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: In most

         25  cases it's every two years.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And is there a

          3  review before they get their renewal that they've

          4  paid their fine?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, if there are

          7  outstanding fines, they can't renew their license?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well,

          9  that's true. We won't renew their license. But we

         10  will put them on a payment plan to pay back, pay the

         11  fines that they owe the Department, and then proceed

         12  with licensing.

         13                 But then one thing that's worth

         14  noting is, most of the stores, the only license they

         15  likely have in the Department is a tobacco sales

         16  license.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: The only license

         18  that they're likely to have you said?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Right.

         20  Because we don't license supermarkets per se, or

         21  drug stores per se, or it might be stoopline stands

         22  we license.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Is John Liu here?

         24  Oh, yeah, there he is.

         25                 Whenever I hear stoopline stands --
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Me,

          3  too.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- I see my

          5  colleague, right. And we're still trying to work

          6  something out on that. But go ahead.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: So, it

          8  wouldn't be a license actually that they would need

          9  to renew in many cases. But one of the things that

         10  the Department has done, and I actually hadn't

         11  prepared myself to talk about this, is that we

         12  computerized our collections' efforts and we have

         13  established what we call "pack or pull" plans, with

         14  many of the grocery store chains. So, let's say

         15  you're a grocery store, and you have ten

         16  establishments throughout the City, and they get,

         17  one of them gets a violation, but they don't report

         18  it to the central office. Through this plan, we're

         19  able to send those violations to the central

         20  offices. They review them. If they choose to contest

         21  them, they have an opportunity, but otherwise

         22  they'll pay their fine, their settlement amount, and

         23  we found that the stores like that process because

         24  it gives them some predictability, and we like it

         25  because it means that people are paying up.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I know you may not

          3  have this answer, these numbers at your fingertips,

          4  Pauline. But do you have any idea what percentage of

          5  these stores, as you said, they don't all have

          6  licenses, but those that do, tobacco licenses

          7  especially, have, in fact, paid their fines.

          8                 MR. EILER: I don't know --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Andy, I'm sorry.

         10  You keep testifying, just tell us who you are for

         11  the record.

         12                 MR. EILER: I'm Andrew Eiler, the

         13  Legislative Director for the Department of Consumer

         14  Affairs.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         16                 MR. EILER: The tobacco license is a

         17  special thing, because under that law it was

         18  specifically written in that the license can be

         19  suspended only for violations of that law.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: That law meaning

         21  the tobacco law.

         22                 MR. EILER: Tobacco law.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: For selling to

         24  people under 18.

         25                 MR. EILER: So there's a limitation on
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          2  what other violations can be taken account as a

          3  basis for not renewing or withholding a license.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: But we

          5  can certainly find out how many stores have paid

          6  their fines and how many have outstanding fines as

          7  they wait for licenses.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, I think that

          9  would be very useful and I appreciate the ideas, the

         10  suggestions, that you've said in terms of this

         11  legislation, and it's very much a working document.

         12                 Much of what we're trying to do here

         13  is to get people to comply. In not just in this

         14  arena, but in so many other arenas, we find that

         15  people don't pay fines, because they simply see it

         16  as a cost of doing business. So, you have to capture

         17  their attention sooner or later with a number that

         18  all of a sudden they look up and go, okay, I've got

         19  to do something. Or you can't have your license

         20  renewed. That's real simple.

         21                 Although, I hear you could be caught

         22  in a situation where you're not licensing these

         23  stores, and maybe we need to look at the tobacco

         24  licensing. Is that a State license or is that a City

         25  license?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: There's

          3  a City license law and a state license law, and we

          4  enforce both.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: So, we could

          6  prevail in terms of putting that stipulation on the

          7  City license component of tobacco, since tobacco

          8  seems to be a profitable, unfortunately, area for

          9  stores. They don't want to give up that tobacco

         10  license, right?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: That's

         12  absolutely true.

         13                 And another avenue, I raise at some

         14  risk, is I look forward to having a conversation

         15  about this with you and your Committee, is that if

         16  the Department of Consumer Affairs had hearing

         17  authority on all of the violations that we issue, we

         18  could then compel the stores to come in, and as it

         19  is now, it's much harder to do.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, I think that

         21  the Department knows that the Chair is sympathetic,

         22  and we haven't actually had a chance to reach out to

         23  you, but I was looking at March.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: We love

         25  March.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: There you have it.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Would you let us

          6  know the number of stores, in terms of this, that

          7  you have this situation where you have this

          8  licensing, sort of carrot and a stick? And briefly,

          9  because I want to move on to other, and I know

         10  Council Member Koppell has a question, and I want to

         11  move on to the other witnesses.

         12                 You said that in some circumstances

         13  you work out a payment plan. Now, you don't have

         14  that ability with the tobacco license, you said. So,

         15  with the retail stores that you license who aren't

         16  in compliance, you say you work out a payment plan,

         17  because you don't want to just put them out of

         18  business?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: That

         20  would be accurate.

         21                 And, you know, recently, for example,

         22  there was a stoopline situation. There was some

         23  confusion on the part of the owner, and, you know,

         24  he owed fines to the Department. Yet, it seemed to

         25  us to be in his best interest, his community's best
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          2  interest, to issue him a license to continue to

          3  operate, as long as he agreed to pay the fines that

          4  he owed on a staggered basis. We don't want to take

          5  away his livelihood.

          6                 I think the settlement offices work

          7  to try and ensure that the fines owed to the City

          8  are paid, but that the business has a fair shot to

          9  operate.

         10                 And the other thing I would like to

         11  say is that, --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I'm sorry, Pauline.

         13  Let me let you finish your thought.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Okay.

         15                 That the Pack or Pull program --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Pack or Pull?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Pack or

         18  Pull.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: What does that

         20  mean?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: It's a

         22  payment plan with the larger stores. It has been

         23  very, very successful. So, even though we don't

         24  license those stores, they have -- when we were able

         25  to sort of work out a system to review violations on
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          2  their part, and for them to pay in the regular way

          3  and be notified on a quarterly basis, we find that

          4  that has worked really smoothly to ensure that the

          5  stores are doing a good job in New York City to pay

          6  their fines, and if they don't think they got a

          7  violation fairly to contest it, and that system has

          8  worked very well.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Information and

         10  statistics about that would be useful when we do

         11  management review. You know, the Chair, this Chair

         12  is particularly interested in people paying fines,

         13  capturing the money that's out there.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You also may know

         16  that we're having a hearing on the ECB on the 24th,

         17  in follow-up to a meeting that Andy was at, sort of

         18  with, in conjunction, obviously, with the Committee

         19  on Environmental Protection that oversees ECB, but

         20  these issues of collection and not just having

         21  outstanding fines. Because since you don't have

         22  hearing authority, all of your fines and violations

         23  go to ECB, am I right?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: No, no,

         25  no. We can't -- we do have hearing authority on some
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          2  areas. On all of our license law violations, and on

          3  some weights and measures violations, and --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED: But the ones that

          5  you don't license go to ECB.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: No, the

          7  only area I believe where DCA has regulatory

          8  authority and violations are heard at ECB is general

          9  vendors.

         10                 If some violations are issued and we

         11  don't hold hearings on them, but the businesses to

         12  whom they're issued are responsible and they come

         13  and they pay their fines, and I mean we'd be happy

         14  to cover with you the statistics by different

         15  business categories on fine payment.

         16                 But, so, for those businesses where

         17  we can't hold hearings, we're basically depending on

         18  the goodwill of the business and the desire to be a

         19  good corporate or citizen.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         21                 Council Member Koppell has a

         22  question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I want to put

         24  to rest or understand fully this issue of the big

         25  box stores.
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          2                 I notice that in the current law

          3  there is an exemption for businesses that require

          4  members to pay a direct fee to the store to qualify

          5  for membership, and that part certainly applies to

          6  some of the big box stores. But then it says, "and"

          7  -- not or, but "and the store is not required to

          8  collect sales tax."

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Wait.

         10  Could you just give me the site so I can look.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm sorry.

         12  Let me see. It's subdivision 20-708.1 of the

         13  Administrative Code. It's the section that's being

         14  amended by this proposed law.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, I'm

         17  reading. Because this issue has come up, I want to

         18  understand it clearly. This says that "the item

         19  pricing law does not apply to a store, which is not

         20  open to the general public, and where members must

         21  pay a direct fee to the store to qualify for

         22  membership.

         23                 Now, that covers places like Cosco.

         24  But then it says, "and the store is not required to

         25  collect sales tax on transactions with members."
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: It's

          3  that troubling "and" "sales tax."

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Troubling?

          5  That's good as far as I'm concerned.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: No, no,

          7  no. We're agreeing. That's exactly why the box

          8  stores are covered.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes, but do

         10  they take the position, which they might take, that

         11  since food transactions may not be covered by sales

         12  tax, they don't need to item price food. Do they

         13  take that position?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I don't

         15  have the results of the hearing, but I know that we

         16  issued the violations, and that there was, and they

         17  were upheld. So, I don't know what their position

         18  was. We can try and pull the transcript of that and

         19  find out.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But, I mean,

         21  my opinion is that this doesn't say don't collect

         22  sales tax on certain items which are exempt, it says

         23  the store does. And then since the big box stores do

         24  collect sales tax, I assume they don't come within

         25  this exception, right? You agree with that?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: They do

          3  collect sales tax.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right. So,

          5  they don't come within the exception.

          6                 They're not exempt?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: They're

          8  not exempt. Right. That's the Department's position,

          9  is that the box stores are not exempt from this law.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right. And if

         11  you go down to the next subparagraph B, just to try

         12  and put this to rest, there's another exemption

         13  which says "has annual gross sales of stock keeping

         14  items of less than," and currently it's 2 million,

         15  and this seeks to make it 1 million. Are they trying

         16  to wriggle out by saying that because they sell a

         17  lot of things that may not be covered by item

         18  pricing, that they're covered by this exemption? Is

         19  there any such attempt being made?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: I don't

         21  know what the box stores said when they received the

         22  violations, when they paid the violations. So, I

         23  can't answer that question.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But it's

         25  clearly the position of the Department that box
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          2  stores are covered?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:

          4  Absolutely.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And you will

          6  enforce the law against the box stores?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: We have

          8  been enforcing the law, and we will continue to

          9  enforce the law.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. So, we

         11  don't need this for that. We don't need any change

         12  to do that?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: That is

         14  our view.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. That's

         16  good, assuming that you're correct and that the

         17  courts have agreed with you.

         18                 Let me go to the next item, though,

         19  and that is this issue that you are suggesting that

         20  small stores should continue to be exempt, and

         21  you're opposing this legislation which would cover

         22  more stores.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well,

         24  just to clarify, we didn't oppose we want additional

         25  information.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.

          3                 Well, one of your examples you gave

          4  was a store that only did 137 transactions a day. I

          5  don't quite understand the rationale for saying that

          6  if they only did 137 transactions per day, they

          7  shouldn't item price.

          8                 There is, by the way, just to

          9  clarify, in the law now, as I look at it, an

         10  exemption for sort of mom and pop stores. That's

         11  already, and Councilman Monserrate hasn't proposed

         12  to change that. So, mom and pop stores would still

         13  be exempt.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: No, the new

         15  legislation does not call for changing the two

         16  exemptions in the existing law.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right. Well,

         18  one, he's proposing to reduce the cap, the level.

         19                 So, I'm asking you, why do you think

         20  that just 'cause it has only 137 transactions, the

         21  customers shouldn't be entitled for item pricing;

         22  what's the rationale there?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well,

         24  we don't know that item pricing is an entitlement;

         25  and, secondly, what we were suggesting to the
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          2  Council is it would be helpful to have a handful on

          3  the number of stores you thought would be covered by

          4  this change in the law, and that, you know, the

          5  stock keeping units that have to be priced is

          6  different than the trigger of sales, and you could

          7  end up selling -- you could be a relatively small

          8  business that had, that met the sales trigger, but

          9  it would really place a burden on you. So, we

         10  thought that it would be helpful to understand

         11  what's the scope of the universe that you were

         12  intending to cover, and apparently with the big box

         13  stores, we thought they were covered. So, I guess we

         14  want additional clarification. And if you think that

         15  any store, you know, what's the threshold? What's

         16  the trigger? We're interested in your rationale and

         17  thinking.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, first

         19  of all, I'm not the sponsor of this bill, but I'm

         20  sympathethic to it, certainly. But the fact is, you

         21  might be helpful in providing that information, or

         22  your Department might be, rather than saying, you

         23  know, why don't you tell us. I think it would be

         24  interesting for you to tell us.

         25                 But I was very troubled, and I'll
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          2  stop then, Mr. Chairman. I was very troubled by a

          3  little phrase you just used in answering my

          4  question, when you said, well, it's not an

          5  entitlement.

          6                 We think, I think personally, let me

          7  just speak for myself, that it should be an

          8  entitlement, and it certainly is an entitlement

          9  under both local and state law for people who shop

         10  in most of the stores.

         11                 So, when you say that it's not an

         12  entitlement, it's up to us to make it an

         13  entitlement, and I'm shocked that the City

         14  Department of Consumer Affairs would say that's not

         15  an entitlement. It is an entitlement. There may be

         16  certain hardship issues that make it inapplicable,

         17  may be inapplicable to certain small businesses, but

         18  frankly speaking it is an entitlement as far as I'm

         19  concerned.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Well,

         21  maybe it's just an issue of nomenclature. From our

         22  our Department's point of view, given the pattern of

         23  complaints, which is very low, the pattern of

         24  violations, which is very low, we're not sure that a

         25  change in the law is going to provide any
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          2  particularly strong consumer protection that doesn't

          3  already exist, and that perhaps consumers would be

          4  protected in having a sort of broader view of the

          5  law. That's our view, and having a long,

          6  well-informed discussion is probably going to end up

          7  with a better piece of legislation.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I have

          9  no problem with the discussion, but if it's hard for

         10  the senior citizen to figure out or to gather what

         11  the price is on certain items, as Mr. Monserrate, I

         12  think absolutely correctly pointed out, if it's hard

         13  for them to figure out what the price is, and they

         14  also want to know what the price is when they get to

         15  the cash register, and they want to know if they've

         16  been correctly priced when they get home, I don't

         17  see that that changes when they pick up at the local

         18  grocery store, or they pick up at the local

         19  supermarket. The same problem exists in the local

         20  grocery store. There may be reasons to give a pass

         21  to small stores that can't afford it, but I don't

         22  understand why, if it's important for people to know

         23  what the price is, on an item-by-item basis in a big

         24  store, why that isn't also true in a small store.

         25                 MR. EILER: Well, if you go back when
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          2  the law was first -- the reason for the example that

          3  we gave with regard to the small number of

          4  transactions and the small size of the transactions

          5  that would reach that million dollar threshold, and

          6  the rationale for exempting such small applications

          7  is that consumers in those stores generally did not,

          8  you know, shop with huge grocery market baskets or

          9  carts filled with 50, 60 items, or 30, 40 items, but

         10  in a small store, you would have people picking up

         11  two, or three or four items. And therefore, the need

         12  for the item pricing law was for a consumer can't

         13  possibly remember the prices of 40 or 50 items, but

         14  if you're going to be buying three or four or five,

         15  which is where you get the $15 per transaction,

         16  you're likely to remember the prices, and you would

         17  have seen the price when you picked it up on your

         18  shelf. And you're also talking about in a small

         19  store, a much more narrow universe. In other words,

         20  you don't have a full line of 50,000 from which to

         21  choose, you basically have a very small range of

         22  items that are probably the items that are regularly

         23  picked up so people are more familiar with them and

         24  so forth and so on.

         25                 So, the basis for the exemption based
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          2  on a dollar transaction level, was that

          3  consideration. And in those kind of stores, they

          4  usually didn't have scanners, the number of items

          5  that were purchased were small. If they didn't have

          6  scanners, they would probably have to item price

          7  anyway, so the checkout person would know what the

          8  price was and so forth and so on. That was the basis

          9  for that $2 million exemption. And to reduce it to

         10  $1 million would capture even smaller operations,

         11  where the rationale would be even less likely to

         12  apply for meeting the item pricing.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: You're

         15  welcome.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Council Member

         17  Gentile.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman.

         20                 Commissioner, just a follow-up on

         21  Councilman Koppell's understanding. Unlike the food

         22  supermarkets where you have individual sales, sales

         23  going on, in the bulk stores like Cosco, isn't it

         24  the case that at times you will have small

         25  businessmen maybe going into these bulk stores to
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          2  buy items in bulk that they ultimately will resell,

          3  and reprice? So, in that case, is item pricing still

          4  a requirement of a store like Cosco, where someone

          5  is coming in as a business transaction, buying in

          6  bulk to resell?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: It's

          8  the view of the Department that the big box stores

          9  like Cosco and BJ's, and I don't know what they're

         10  all named, but they're covered by the existing law.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Regardless of

         12  that transaction?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Right.

         14  They could sell me the products as easily as they

         15  could sell it to another store owner who he sells

         16  it.

         17                 MR. ALPER: Basically the requirement

         18  for item pricing is not transaction-specific. In

         19  other words, it's not for consumer transactions,

         20  it's a store that meets the definitions, has the

         21  item price the products that it sells at retail, and

         22  it doesn't make any difference who the retailer

         23  purchaser is, whether it's a business making it, or

         24  what the purpose of the transaction is.

         25                 Once you require to item price,
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          2  you're supposed to item price the covered product.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And you don't

          4  look further than that. Okay, I understand.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: Our

          8  pleasure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Next, I think I

         10  mentioned that we wanted to hear from Patricia

         11  Broadhagen and Luis Salcedo, and Donald Halperin.

         12                 Mr. Salcedo, do you want to start?

         13  Please.

         14                 MR. SALCEDO: Good morning. My name is

         15  Luis Salcedo, and I'm the Executive Director for the

         16  National Supermarket Association. We are an

         17  organization of independent supermarkets, trade

         18  names known as independents are C-Town, Bravo,

         19  Pioneer, Met Food, Fanfares. Some of those my friend

         20  I'm sure shops often, and I'm actually shocked that

         21  he is trying to implement all this new regulations

         22  here, because what I've seen through 14 years that

         23  I'm in the industry and operating myself four stores

         24  before this, that the competition that we have

         25  implemented in the City takes care of all the
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          2  regulations. We are so much more concerned about

          3  having a consumer that come to our store satisfied,

          4  happy, so they come back to our store, they stay

          5  permanent as our consumers, that we actually

          6  overrule the Department's regulations. We care more

          7  about the consumer, that the City actually does

          8  within the law to protect consumers.

          9                 I often hear the interest of

         10  collecting the fines. And that's fine. That I think

         11  is right for the City. The City depends, the

         12  government depends on collecting fines and

         13  violations and tax, and all of that stuff, but I

         14  often worry about the fact that when I hear the

         15  emphasis on collecting fines, then I ask myself is

         16  it really to protect consumers that we personally

         17  care so much about, or is it really about increasing

         18  the collection of fines?

         19                 But we spoke about, I heard about

         20  weights and measures and a whole bunch of different

         21  items, which we have no opposition to Consumer

         22  Affairs coming to our stores to check the scales and

         23  all the stuff, and multiple violations, but item

         24  pricing particularly, we go on a weekly basis on

         25  sales, and we get changes of over a thousand items,

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  whether it is Friday or Thursday or Sunday and

          3  different chain stores, they do it on different

          4  days, we in today's world of technology, we actually

          5  download this stuff automatically from the parent

          6  company, from the wholesales, and the biggest

          7  problem, we have UPC labels, which Universal Pricing

          8  Code that are on the shelf and tell consumers the

          9  price per pound, the price of the items and so on

         10  and so on, but the biggest problem that we confront

         11  is having to not only change the label every week to

         12  a thousand items, but also to have to take the

         13  actual label that was put there the week before, or

         14  it was there as a regular price, and it is a task

         15  that burdens us so hugely that probably affects the

         16  consumer more because we are not able to do an

         17  efficient job and doing the right thing, which is in

         18  reality protecting our own customers so we don't

         19  want them to go to another store.

         20                 So, I think the item pricing part of

         21  this legislation what I really see as I'm fair and I

         22  do not believe that it will protect consumers at all

         23  because it just creates a huge burden to the stores.

         24  And specifically when you have to item price

         25  individually, when you have a display. And Hiram

                                                            52

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  knows, he goes to our stores, and I'm sure all of

          3  you go to particular supermarket when we have a

          4  display of tuna, and we put a hundred cases of tuna,

          5  each one has 48 units on it, half of those are

          6  covered, they're not open.

          7                 And we have been fined for cases that

          8  are not open to the consumer.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Mr. Salcedo, you

         10  said something, you said half of them are covered,

         11  and then I missed what you said next.

         12                 MR. SALCEDO: That when you go and see

         13  a display of tuna, particularly, let's say, which is

         14  a very common item that it goes on sale, we put up a

         15  display of 100 cases of tuna, and we open only the

         16  first row. We don't need to open the whole amount,

         17  because we have a security issue -- I mean safety

         18  issue rather, not security. But safety issue, that

         19  if you open all of those cases as a consumer,

         20  believe it or not, a consumer, instead of pulling

         21  from the front case, doesn't pull the same item from

         22  the back case, and they fall on it and then we have

         23  insurance issue and a whole bunch of issues.

         24                 We have been fined by counting cases

         25  and multiplying times the amount of items that each
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          2  one of those cases has, and is really, really, I

          3  don't know if the inspectors are properly trained, I

          4  don't know if the inspector at a time feels that

          5  they have the authority to do this, and whatever

          6  issue they have with store owners and stuff like

          7  that, we have a serious issue with item pricing. I

          8  bet you don't have an issue with anything else that

          9  was discussed here, with weights and measures and

         10  all this stuff. We agree, but we care so much about

         11  the consumer ourselves, we are working on a daily

         12  basis in a very competitive market. It's up to us to

         13  maintain our consumers. We are not going to maintain

         14  them by trying to rip them off. We are not going to

         15  maintain them by trying to charge them illegal

         16  prices.

         17                 I don't know now many we see when a

         18  handicapped person goes to our stores, and it's

         19  usually the owners that come from, wherever it is to

         20  take care. We take so much great care of consumers

         21  with specific needs. So, I really think the Council

         22  ought to look at this, and understand that the

         23  creation of multiple burdens into a supermarket

         24  actually at the end is not going to help consumers.

         25  It's going to prevent them from being taken care the
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          2  way we like to do it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          4                 Ms. Brodhagen. Off is on.

          5                 MS. BRODHAGEN: That's right. You'd

          6  think I'd learn that. My name is Patricia Brodhagen,

          7  and I'm the vice president of public affairs for the

          8  food industry alliance of New York State, and who

          9  that is is the trade association that represents

         10  grocery stores.

         11                 So, our members include pretty much

         12  all of Luis's as well, and pretty much any chain

         13  operator that comes to mind that does business in

         14  New York City, that's larger than a corner grocery,

         15  they're typically not our members, but anybody,

         16  independents and chains operating under the common

         17  banners that you're familiar with would be members.

         18                 We're opposing Intro. 442, as well,

         19  really on both of the grounds, both in terms of

         20  lowering that threshold to a smaller store, even

         21  though, again, it would not probably capture most of

         22  my members, our members are all within it. They do 2

         23  million annually, as well as increasing the

         24  penalties.

         25                 And with respect to the penalties,
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          2  what we heard, one would assume that the rationale

          3  for increasing penalties is to achieve greater

          4  compliance, but what we heard was the compliance is

          5  in fact pretty good, and that complaints are

          6  actually very, very low. And, therefore, we believe

          7  that higher penalties will really mostly serve to

          8  unfairly penalize all of those grocers out there who

          9  are making a good faith effort to comply.

         10                 Compliance with item pricing is not

         11  easy, and I just want to describe it for you. And

         12  also, just review what it means, just to be sure

         13  everybody understands.

         14                 Item pricing, the sticker. It's a

         15  little piece of paper sticker that has to be put on

         16  every single can, bottle, package, jar, et cetera.

         17  Even though there's also a shelf price and a scan

         18  price, it's the sticker.

         19                 Consider the enormity of the job of

         20  stickering in a modern supermarket. Depending upon

         21  the size of the store, a retailer carries anywhere

         22  between 15,000 and 30,000 individual product lines,

         23  we call them SKUs, stock keeping units, that's each

         24  individual. That's tuna, to use Luis's example, it's

         25  the six ounce Starkist Tuna let's say, 15,000 to
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          2  30,000 of those, but that adds up to hundreds of

          3  thousands to a million and in a big store as many as

          4  3 million individual packages, all of which have to

          5  be priced.

          6                 And it's a violation, if five or more

          7  of the packages, and each of one of those SKUs

          8  doesn't have a sticker on it, regardless of how many

          9  SKUs might be on, individual items, might be on the

         10  shelf.

         11                 With constant restocking and hundreds

         12  of products going on and off sale each week, human

         13  error is unavoidable. It's likely that there will be

         14  some items in the store of those hundred thousand to

         15  3 million that won't have a sticker. It's a hard job

         16  to keep up with.

         17                 So, this is the kind of thing, no

         18  matter how hard you try, you are probably going to

         19  get some violations.

         20                 Raising the penalty isn't going to

         21  change that. It's not an issue of do we choose to

         22  comply or not, we try, we're going to make mistakes.

         23  Raising the penalty won't make a difference for the

         24  vast majority of grocers.

         25                 And we do, though, agree that

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  everybody covered by this law, the full range on

          3  both ends of the spectrum, so long as we have a law,

          4  ought to comply. In this competitive environment,

          5  our view would be that everybody who is under the

          6  law needs to comply, but we don't think the way to

          7  assure that that happens is through higher penalties

          8  that penalize the good players but through active

          9  aggressive enforcement on the part of the Department

         10  of Consumer Affairs, that will then have the desired

         11  outcome of the stores that tend to ignore this to

         12  come into compliance.

         13                 With respect to the amount of the

         14  penalty as well, let me just put that into context

         15  with, you've probably heard me say this before, in

         16  the supermarket industry, our margins are razor

         17  thin. For as long as I've done this, it's a penny on

         18  the dollar. Some years it's a little more, some

         19  years it's a little less, it's a penny on the

         20  dollar. It's not a high profit margin industry.

         21                 So, just using that little store, let

         22  me describe that $1 million store a different way. A

         23  guy who does a million dollars annually, means it's

         24  $20,000 a week. It's a small, small store, $20,000 a

         25  week. If he were to get a thousand dollar penalty,
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          2  which would be the first 20 violations at the new

          3  $50 rate, it would take him five weeks of profits to

          4  pay that fine.

          5                 That fine is not nothing to him. It's

          6  not nothing to a big operator. Those dollar amounts

          7  are not to be taken lightly, and we don't take them

          8  lightly. And it would clearly, clearly hurt a small

          9  operator.

         10                 And Andy was right when he said the

         11  other factor is that largely those stores are not

         12  scanning. They're manual operations. They are

         13  probably stickering anyway, because they need to.

         14  They're still doing everything the old way where

         15  there is a sticker on the item and it's punched in

         16  the cash register.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Can I ask you a

         18  question? I'm not sure if you're finished. But you

         19  are pointing out this penny on a dollar, which I've

         20  heard this for years.

         21                 That cost is taking into

         22  consideration labor as well, and you're then making

         23  a penny on a dollar?

         24                 MS. BRODHAGEN: That's right. That's

         25  our net profit margin.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

          3                 MS. BRODHAGEN: So, what I'm saying

          4  is, our industry, so long as the law that is on the

          5  books supports enforcement of it for everybody who

          6  is in it, we don't see any justification for

          7  increasing those penalties. That would clearly hurt

          8  people, especially those who are really trying to

          9  comply. Nor do we see any justification for lowering

         10  the threshold. We think that would hurt a whole

         11  universe of very small operators.

         12                 But what I'd like to do, if I could,

         13  is address the bigger picture, since the whole issue

         14  of item pricing is on the table on behalf of the

         15  industry.

         16                 I just want to say sort of how we

         17  look at this, which is that not having an item price

         18  is not the same as not having a price.

         19                 State law already requires shelf

         20  prices, and since the seventies we've had scanning.

         21  And if a scanner, when the item goes through and

         22  it's scanned, you don't get a register tape that

         23  just says grocery, grocery, grocery, you get a tape

         24  that identifies every single thing you bought by

         25  exactly what it is, so you have a very complete
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          2  record of your sale.

          3                 In the food business, we look at

          4  stickering really as a redundant activity. And I

          5  know that that's not probably the prevailing thought

          6  today, but for us it's a redundant activity and it's

          7  an expensive activity, and it forces us in this

          8  extremely competitive environment, to put resources

          9  into stickering which we feel is a cost without

         10  value. And we would rather direct our resources into

         11  those activities that are much more directed towards

         12  serving our customers and keeping our customers and

         13  competing with those stores in other jurisdictions

         14  where there is no item pricing, where people are

         15  free to go and do great big shopping and come back

         16  to New York and just maybe do small amounts of

         17  shopping. We would rather rely on the shelf price

         18  and the scanner price, and be tested annually or

         19  more often on our accuracy, so that customers know

         20  that the price they see on the shelf and the price

         21  that's scanned is the same price. Customers have a

         22  right to know what they're paying and they have a

         23  right to expect that it's the accurate price, and we

         24  are perfectly willing to be subject to regular

         25  inspections about that, but for us, it would be an
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          2  enormous help to doing business in this City and

          3  staying healthy. Which is good for us, we could open

          4  more stores, we could employ more people, we could

          5  continue to grow, if we could find a way to craft

          6  something that would relieve us of the regulatory

          7  burden of that individual stickering, and at the

          8  same time preserve and protect our consumers.

          9                 It actually --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Could you try to

         11  wrap up your testimony? I'm sure there's a lot of

         12  questions.

         13                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Well, you should let

         14  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: No, I'm waiting to

         16  hear from Donald, I just --

         17                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Let me just say that

         18  in New York, for example, there is no state law, and

         19  in 1991 when the State law expired, several

         20  jurisdictions did move to adopt local laws and New

         21  York City was one of them. But since then,

         22  Chautauqua, Erie, Oneida, Schenectady, St. Lawrence,

         23  Ulster and Nassau County have adopted item pricing

         24  waivers. They don't repeal item pricing, they

         25  provide a waiver when certain conditions are met.
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          2  Montgomery County did repeal its item pricing law.

          3  There's only eight jurisdictions in the whole state

          4  that were in favor of pricing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: What would the

          6  waiver be fore? What is the primary waiver?

          7                 MS. BRODHAGEN: What happens is, in

          8  Nassau County, for example, an inspection is done

          9  annually, two inspections, one, and then a couple of

         10  weeks later and then a second inspection, each one

         11  of at least 100 items, comparing the shelf price to

         12  the scanned price.

         13                 If on those two inspections the store

         14  is 98 percent or better accurate, that means only

         15  two errors, then the store gets a waiver for one

         16  year from item pricing.

         17                 If the store doesn't apply for or

         18  fails the test, it has to continue to item price.

         19  But every year if it applies and passes that

         20  accuracy test, then it doesn't have the sticker. It

         21  puts a sign up that says it passed the test, and

         22  they also are required to put those consumer

         23  scanners in the store so that customers can run a

         24  thing through if they want to, to check it.

         25                 It's working in Nassau County. I
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          2  think the county officials there would tell you that

          3  they're not getting complaints. It's enabled our

          4  stores to devote more of their resources to more

          5  directly serving customers, and it's right next

          6  door.

          7                 So, that's a good example. That's

          8  basically how it's done wherever there are waivers.

          9                 Nationally there's only five states

         10  that require item pricing, and of those, one of them

         11  is Connecticut and actually Connecticut doesn't

         12  really because it provides a waiver, if you have an

         13  electronic shelf label, so that the label on the

         14  shelf, instead of paper is electronic, and it's

         15  directly attached to the scanning system. Works very

         16  well in Connecticut. It's an expensive system and so

         17  it's not something that would necessarily be viable

         18  here, but that leaves only four states. So, in our

         19  view, after 14 years, we would ask the Committee to

         20  help us stay competitive, stay healthy and take a

         21  look at item pricing in the bigger picture and see

         22  if there isn't a way that we can incorporate some

         23  changes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.

         25                 Mr. Halperin.
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          2                 MR. HALPERIN: Yes, my name is Don

          3  Halperin. I'm testifying today on behalf of the New

          4  York Metropolitan Retail Association, commonly known

          5  as NYMRA. And I will, particularly given the well

          6  thought out remarks already delivered, try to keep

          7  within the three minutes and then be available for

          8  questions.

          9                 And NYMRA's presence here today is

         10  not so much to support or oppose Intro. 442, but

         11  rather to encourage the Council to look at this

         12  legislation within the context of the effectiveness

         13  of item pricing, and alternative to the item-pricing

         14  system.

         15                 This legislation is an attempt to

         16  strengthen a law that NYMRA does not believe is

         17  practicable or beneficial to consumers. The product

         18  line of multiple thousands and daily changing price

         19  points, this archaic method forces inefficiency and

         20  increases the chance for errors. The amount of

         21  resources necessary to comply with the existing law

         22  could much better be used to otherwise serve

         23  consumers. It is in the retailer's best interest to

         24  provide accurate prices, and we feel that the

         25  current item pricing law actually increases the
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          2  chance of pricing errors.

          3                 The item pricing laws are

          4  anachronistic and precede the adoption of

          5  computerized bar codes, which afford consumers, as

          6  well as the stores, potential benefits that far

          7  exceed those of am item pricing system.

          8                 Ironically, item pricing discourages

          9  sales, one of the primary means of providing

         10  additional savings for consumers. While the current

         11  item pricing law provides a means of putting an item

         12  on sale by locating it in a segregated display at

         13  the end of an aisle, this requirement is both costly

         14  and unwieldy and discourages thoughts from putting

         15  items on sale. Sales are a commonplace marketing

         16  practice that consumers have come to expect and rely

         17  upon. Moving all sales items to a segregated display

         18  at the end of an aisle is difficult and costly, if

         19  not an impossible task, particularly for sales of

         20  short duration.

         21                 Let me understand this. Don, are you

         22  saying the law, because I mean, I know it as well as

         23  you, if you segregate it out, you don't have to item

         24  price; is that what you said?

         25                 MR. HALPERIN: Yes. But you have to
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          2  provide like a separate display.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: All right.

          4                 MR. HALPERIN: Of those jurisdictions

          5  around the country that have item pricing laws,

          6  including those within the State of New York, most

          7  have adopted an opt out alternative. Many

          8  jurisdictions have no item pricing laws at all, and

          9  while we are not here today to lay out a specific

         10  proposal for such an alternative, the most common

         11  characteristics for such opt out plans are as

         12  follows: Scanners, which access the most up-to-date

         13  prices, made available for the convenient us of

         14  customers. Information is displayed on an

         15  easy-to-read video screen, which is more clearly

         16  legible than price stickers, which are generally

         17  much smaller and often, despite the best efforts of

         18  the retailer, do not reflect the most current

         19  prices.

         20                 Scanner information would have to

         21  pass a high threshold of perhaps 98 percent

         22  accuracy, and a fee could be charged for the right

         23  to buy into an alternative system, the proceeds of

         24  which could be used by the Department of Consumer

         25  Affairs, to better enforce consumer protection laws,
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          2  such as shelf pricing.

          3                 Shelf pricing affords the consumer

          4  over advantages over item pricing by displaying

          5  price in a bolder print, more legible, particularly

          6  to older eyes, than is possible on small tags that

          7  go on individual items.

          8                 It also provides valuable unit

          9  pricing information. We hope that the City Council

         10  will look at the broader issue before it chooses to

         11  act on this specific legislation.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you for your

         13  brevity.

         14                 You know, one of the problems with

         15  these enlightened alternative ideas, particularly as

         16  it relates to paying into a special fund or

         17  something, all the money, as you well know, goes

         18  into the general fund, so even if there was a system

         19  set up where the stores that want to be complying

         20  will pay a fee and you think that would go into

         21  therefore enforcement, it doesn't work that way.

         22                 We've got legislation now about

         23  vendors in the park, to be able to put that money

         24  specifically aside for park maintenance. The Mayor

         25  doesn't support that.
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          2                 So, the concern that we always have

          3  here is if you set up a system like that, you're not

          4  going to see it. And often times even agencies that

          5  basically pay for themselves, DCA is one of them,

          6  and you'd think that more enforcement would not only

          7  bring you more compliance, but would generate

          8  revenue. We don't see the administration, frankly

          9  any administration, not just this one, saying, okay,

         10  you know, that's a money maker. You know, traffic

         11  enforcement agents, nope, all these different

         12  things.

         13                 So, the frustration I would have

         14  legislatively from this is, we never see this money

         15  in DCA's budget. That's the first problem with it.

         16                 Since everybody here, unlike the

         17  former President George Bush is aware of scanners

         18  and how to shop, I think most of us probably end up

         19  at the supermarket or some place sooner or later,

         20  I'm always trying to make, see my C-Town closes at

         21  9:00, and everybody that is a Council member knows

         22  that 9:00 is sort of like the starting hour for the

         23  evening activities, so I'm always trying to make it

         24  to the 9:00 shut-down at the C-Town, but I guess my

         25  store must be non-compliant, Mr. Salcedo, because
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          2  one of the problems is that quite often there is a

          3  sale, it's not segregated, and so the little thing

          4  says, you know, today the price is so and so, oh,

          5  great, but the label on the sticker says, which I

          6  understand your point, but the sticker says one

          7  price, I get to the counter and I have to very

          8  conscientiously make sure that the person checking

          9  me out rings up the sale price.

         10                 Then sometimes she or he doesn't know

         11  and we have to have a negotiation or I have to run

         12  back and show him, you know, now I have a good

         13  relationship with my grocer, so they're going to

         14  say, okay, fine. But that is the problem.

         15                 You know, the other problem I think

         16  that we're seeing, and all of us anecdotally know

         17  about, it was pointed out at the beginning that most

         18  shoppers in our experience are frustrated,

         19  intimidated, overwhelmed, not familiar enough with

         20  these new scanning mechanisms. And especially in the

         21  small shops in New York, where you either have to

         22  get on all fours on the stores to see what the

         23  price, what the thing is, literally, you know, or --

         24  you know, I'm 55, so bending all the way down to the

         25  lower shelf, you know, I just might not buy it to
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          2  embarrass myself, because the risk of not being able

          3  to get back up.

          4                 MR. SALCEDO: That we can't do

          5  anything about it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, you can if

          7  you put the price on this can and I could lift the

          8  can out, I don't have to try to, you know, figure

          9  out if I'm supposed to look from the top or the

         10  bottom of my glasses and read the thing.

         11                 But I think the other issue may be

         12  the elephant that we don't if it's in the tent or

         13  out of the tent, is the labor cost that is of issue

         14  here that's being raised. And it's interesting

         15  because I have heard all three of you today talk

         16  about how you could do other great things for

         17  consumers, if you didn't have to do this, but I

         18  didn't hear anything talk about lowering the prices.

         19  So, I'm not sure what the greater things that you

         20  would do for the consumer, what greater thing could

         21  you do than lower the price?

         22                 MR. SALCEDO: Allow me to address

         23  that, please.

         24                 First of all, not entirely here, but

         25  if you would like to provide me the address of
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          2  C-Town, believe me, if it was my group, it will be

          3  corrected.

          4                 Second, if you want to my store, you

          5  wouldn't have to go back and get the item. It will

          6  be my duty to make sure that I find out that you're

          7  going to pay the right price, because I believe that

          8  servicing you is to my advantage. I don't know the

          9  particular store you're talking about.

         10                 The cost of the label itself is not

         11  the problem. The cost of taking off labels that are

         12  very sticky on a weekly basis and putting new

         13  labels, that's the cost, it's not the label itself.

         14  It's the agony of having to take out labels and I'm

         15  sure that if you go back to the same C-Town you're

         16  talking about, you'll find that some of those cans

         17  have five labels, one stacked on top of the other

         18  because the workers that are there, you know,

         19  ripping it off could harm the label, could scratch

         20  the can. You're not going to get a scratched can.

         21  You're not going to pick it up from the shelf if

         22  it's scratched. If it has dirt on it and other

         23  stuff.

         24                 So, again, I direct a group that

         25  cares very much, and we have become successful, not
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          2  through violating the law, not through ripping off

          3  consumers, we have become successful through serving

          4  consumers, and prices, yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You're saying your

          6  opposition to this has nothing to do with the labor

          7  cost?

          8                 MR. SALCEDO: Not with the cost of the

          9  label.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Labor.

         11                 MR. SALCEDO: Oh, labor.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Right.

         13                 MR. SALCEDO: Oh, of course. That's

         14  exactly right. I misunderstood. I apologize.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Oh, okay.

         16                 MR. SALCEDO: I thought you said

         17  label.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: No.

         19                 MR. SALCEDO: Labor cost. That is the

         20  big issue here, when you have to switch prices or

         21  items on a weekly basis, a thousand items every

         22  week.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And for all of you

         24  here, does anybody have some broad concept of what

         25  percentage of the cost is? You're talking about you
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          2  only make a dollar, a penny on a dollar, so this

          3  labor -- can you tell me what you think this bill is

          4  costing?

          5                 MR. SALCEDO: Well, let me give an

          6  example. We have, in an average supermarket we have

          7  30 people working, and we have, for example, 15 of

          8  those on the floor that have to get into, they all

          9  have their particular aisle that they work on, and

         10  every aisle gets the amount of items that are

         11  changed, that goes on sale every week, and each one

         12  of those, and I will say I'm not operating for the

         13  last three years, but I was operating, that it

         14  generally took the group of workers about three

         15  hours to change those prices every week. So you

         16  multiply that by ten or 12, whatever the number of

         17  employees are doing that stuff, and that's, you can

         18  come up with a cost.

         19                 But I also want to say that,

         20  unfortunately, you said about the consumer that your

         21  age, I thought it was very young, I'm almost like

         22  your age, and I feel much younger than that so I

         23  don't have a problem bending down to the first shelf

         24  to pick up the stuff, but you're never really going

         25  to educate a consumer, that's why service is so
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          2  important. You can expect -- look at all this

          3  labels, nutritional facts, dietary facts and all

          4  these things that we put in consumers, I can

          5  guarantee you if you went to observe a thousand

          6  people shop in a supermarket, you will have one

          7  person reading one of those nutritional labels or

          8  whatever, ingredients and all the stuff. The

          9  consumers have to protect through service and

         10  through competitive prices, because that's, again,

         11  to our advantage as business people, to make sure

         12  that if you came to my C-Town and -- I'd like to

         13  switch you from your C-Town to one of mine, because

         14  I don't think --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, then you have

         16  to provide me with a car service, and that would be

         17  a gratuity --

         18                 MR. SALCEDO: We are the first group

         19  to implement a free service delivery to --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED: No, no. I don't

         21  want any special favors from my store when I show up

         22  tonight. No.

         23                 I'm still not understanding, and I'm

         24  trying to move along because we have some other

         25  people to testify and everybody is busy, but to hear
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          2  from the other two of you on the issue, because the

          3  issue is about cost, let's be serious, and the

          4  efficiency of item pricing.

          5                 See, I think we believe that our

          6  constituents and consumers will tell you that they

          7  prefer, and I think as we heard from some of our

          8  colleagues to have the price on the item, makes it

          9  simpler.

         10                 So, I'm not hearing a compelling

         11  argument about there is such a cost savings that I

         12  could go to the constituents and say look, you're

         13  going to save ten cents on every can here if we, you

         14  know, get rid of this requirement.

         15                 So, you're saying it takes you three

         16  hours. Three hours, and I don't want to just have

         17  you, Mr. Salcedo, with all due respect, answer the

         18  question, but you said it's three hours. Three hours

         19  out of what? I don't know what that means per se.

         20                 MR. SALCEDO: Out of a person that

         21  works eight hours a week -- eight hours a day in a

         22  store.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Oh, well, that's

         24  easier to quantify.

         25                 Okay, Ms. Broadhagen?
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          2                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Well, it gets tricky

          3  when we start talking about it as a cost, because

          4  the implication is, well, if it cost us money to put

          5  stickers on, and we don't put stickers on any more,

          6  does that mean we're not going to have those

          7  additional costs, we're not going to have those

          8  people. The answer to that is, no, that's not what

          9  we're saying.

         10                 What we're saying is that given all

         11  the tasks in the food store, and given how much help

         12  we have, there are things we can't get to because we

         13  have to put the stickers on, in Nassau County, for

         14  example, and then, you know, if we can pursue this

         15  later, and I hope we can, you know, we'll have

         16  operators come and we can do that sort of an

         17  analysis you're asking for. But what they've done is

         18  they've put the same hours that were going into

         19  stickering into the maintenance of the shelf labels.

         20                 I think often if there is criticism,

         21  that some of those labels are difficult to see, or

         22  maybe they're not where they're supposed to be. You

         23  know, I hear those things and I'm not going to say

         24  that's not the case in some cases.

         25                 And so what happens is, when you're
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          2  being held to a very strict accuracy standard

          3  between your shelf labels and your scanners, not

          4  only the law, but consumer service dictates that

          5  you've got to really do a good job at that. And if

          6  that's what you're focused on, and not being

          7  diverted by having to put stickers on cans as well,

          8  you do, your same people are doing that job, they're

          9  doing that job better, and that job serves customers

         10  better, and that's, you know, sort of an example of

         11  how you become more efficient, you become a better

         12  operator.

         13                 To the extent you're a better

         14  operator, you hang on to your customers, to the

         15  extent you hang onto your customers, you stay in

         16  business.

         17                 MR. HALPERIN: With the members of

         18  NYMRA who I spoke to who are affected by item

         19  pricing, not all of them are, essentially that's

         20  what I was told. There may be some price savings

         21  over time, if the stores can otherwise operate

         22  efficiently. But the thought would be that it does

         23  free up resources to have a stronger and more

         24  effective implementation of the shelf prices. And by

         25  the way, the fact that some are down at the bottom,
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          2  there may be ways to overcome that, if we're really

          3  looking to move towards a system that relies more in

          4  shelf prices and resources can be diverted in that

          5  direction, and maybe some solutions that I'm not

          6  able to discussion in detail now, that we could

          7  pursue with you, to get a more effective

          8  shelf-pricing system. And over time there could be,

          9  but nobody could quantify it, there could be savings

         10  because of the tremendous amount of resources that

         11  put into item pricing, but at the same time, my

         12  members responded in the same way, saying that they

         13  would redirect a lot of the resources to other tasks

         14  that exist in the store now that are not being fully

         15  complied with or done. I'm not saying the laws, but

         16  I'm saying other things they want to do in the

         17  stores.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Well, this Chair,

         19  and this Committee, are always open to suggestions

         20  about ways to better provide services for consumers.

         21  And I would think that you might have wanted to come

         22  with some of those ideas.

         23                 We are going to follow this up. This

         24  is not something that's a one-shot here. So, I would

         25  encourage you, if you have some ideas that you think
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          2  are more forward thinking and address the issues

          3  from the perspective of consumers, making it easier

          4  for them, therefore they want to come back to your

          5  store because they feel comfortable shopping there,

          6  et cetera, et cetera, or more efficiency, or you

          7  could show us real savings from the perspective of a

          8  consumer, because nobody, and we're not going to

          9  start all over again today, has told me the prices

         10  have got to come down. You're going to do something

         11  better. I'm not sure what you're going to do better,

         12  but I haven't heard the price is going to come down.

         13  So, we'll give you some time to think about that.

         14                 I know that Council Member Monserrate

         15  has a question and then we want to get to the other

         16  people who have been patient, I don't want to give

         17  them short shrift in terms of this hearing. We are

         18  going to be continuing this.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair. I'll be very brief.

         21                 I guess that what I'm hearing in

         22  general, I'm very clear what your general position

         23  is with respect to item pricing, but correct me if

         24  I'm incorrect. You've outlined as it pertains to

         25  this legislation a concern about the threshold
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          2  decrease and the increased penalty.

          3                 And you've also testified that it is

          4  your belief that your industry currently is

          5  complying overall with this. I just wanted to be

          6  clear on that. We're all clear on that. There's no

          7  objection to that.

          8                 But I do have a question. Do any of

          9  you represent any of the, quote, big box stores

         10  industries? You do Mr. Halperin. And would you

         11  testify that the big box -- which are the big box

         12  stores that you would represent?

         13                 MR. HALPERIN: Well, it's not always

         14  easy to define what a big box store is, because it

         15  depends what your definition is. But Target.

         16  Actually, the stores that tend to be more effective

         17  of my membership of the two pharmacies that are

         18  members, which is Walgreens and Duane Reade, but

         19  Walmart is in the process of joining our

         20  organization, but they obviously don't yet operate

         21  in the City of New York.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Right.

         23                 MR. HALPERIN: So, we don't have an

         24  experience.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Was it
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          2  Duane Reade and Walgreens, is that?

          3                 MR. HALPERIN: Yes, they, and Target

          4  is affected also.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: All right.

          6  So, let me just talk with respect to those two,

          7  Walgreens and Duane Reade. Would you testify that

          8  those two are in compliance of item pricing today?

          9                 MR. HALPERIN: In compliance to the

         10  extent that they attempt to comply. But once again,

         11  I think as we've all stated, it's very difficult to

         12  comply, given the large number of products that they

         13  have and the problems with even, you know, consumers

         14  putting things down in the wrong place and somebody

         15  goes through and reprices them, somebody else puts

         16  it back where it belongs and that kind of situation.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay.

         18                 In the interest of time, I'm going to

         19  curtail. There are any other questions that I would

         20  like to make.

         21                 In your testimony here, in the last

         22  paragraph of the first page, you actually raise an

         23  issue that I think actually raises the importance.

         24  "customers are prone to returning unwanted items to

         25  incorrect shelves, departments and locations. Isn't
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          2  that in essence an argument in favor of item

          3  pricing?

          4                 Many times customers put the wrong

          5  items, the wrong-sized item back on the shelf and

          6  you look at this but the price is not really the

          7  price for that item? As opposed to the customer

          8  trying to not take that item and find the price back

          9  in aisle nine or 12, whichever where?

         10                 MR. HALPERIN: Well, the problem is

         11  that when that happens, when you go through and you

         12  mark the item price and something is on the wrong

         13  shelf, now you end up with the consumer relying upon

         14  a sticker price that's incorrect.

         15                 If the consumers become more reliant

         16  on using the shelf price, and obviously when they

         17  pick it up, they also should check and make sure

         18  they're holding the right product, then the price is

         19  more likely to be accurate.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: All right.

         21                 I'm going to just close my -- I just

         22  wanted to make a statement to this panel with

         23  respect to that. I know I've gotten frustrated

         24  myself when I've picked up a can of soup, clam

         25  chowder, which I actually like, but it's in the
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          2  chicken noodle section, priced in a different mark,

          3  and I look and there's no price on the cans, and I

          4  have to like find it, that's a problem.

          5                 Secondly, to the NSA, in particular,

          6  which I have a great deal of respect for, Councilman

          7  Monserrate, when he was in high school, was a stock

          8  boy. I did a lot of item pricing myself, and every

          9  week I remember putting the prices, because they

         10  changed the price or it was on sale.

         11                 MR. SALCEDO: I'm sorry to hear that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So, I

         13  think item pricing is actually a very good thing,

         14  and if the store owners and the managers do their

         15  job correctly, and every week they review the price,

         16  what's on sale, and you put a little sticker over

         17  the prior one because it was less or more, whatever

         18  the case is, it's actually very effective.

         19                 In my own personal experience, when I

         20  was a high school student and a stock boy, I

         21  remember that dealing with many of the elderly and

         22  they couldn't find a price and I had to make sure

         23  they had a price. It was very helpful. So, I

         24  actually take an interest to this issue, not only

         25  because of the consumer impact, but also just my own
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          2  personal experience in my prior life.

          3                 So, thank you very much for your

          4  testimony. It's been very insightful. Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair.

          6                 MR. SALCEDO: Thank you.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Thank you

          8  Council member. Thank you, panel.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: By the

         10  way, it was a C-Town that I was a stock boy.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON GENTILE: Thank

         12  you, panel. Our Chairman will return in a few

         13  minutes.

         14                 In the interim we will begin our next

         15  and I think final panel. So, we'll have John Durso.

         16  John, if you could come up. Ernie Mattace. And let's

         17  see, Kirk Swanson. Gemma de Leon, and Tracy Shelton.

         18  If you can all come up and join us at the table,

         19  we'll begin our testimony.

         20                 Now, John, I think you have to leave

         21  us shortly, so if you want to begin.

         22                 MR. DURSO: All right. I press this?

         23  Oh, this is working.

         24                 Well, my remarks start off by saying

         25  good morning, however, good afternoon. And we thank
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          2  you for holding this very important hearing.

          3                 In the interest of time, because so

          4  many of the remarks that I have to say have already

          5  been discussed, let me just say that, first off, my

          6  name is John Durso, and I'm the President of Local

          7  338, and we represent thousands of workers in the

          8  supermarket industry, not only in the City of New

          9  York, but in the State of New York.

         10                 And as we've heard, in 1976, New York

         11  State first enacted this pricing law legislation. We

         12  believe that there is no other system that allows

         13  the customers to best check the cost at home, after

         14  they've done their purchases against store receipt.

         15                 We believe this pricing procedure is

         16  essential for those who live on limited income,

         17  senior citizens, the visually impaired and the

         18  disabled.

         19                 Accurate and accessible pricing

         20  information is critical if consumers are to make

         21  informed shopping decisions. Item pricing protects

         22  the consumer.

         23                 I speak about this after having

         24  served 15 years working in the supermarket industry,

         25  and as our previous speakers spoke about, about what
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          2  goes on in the supermarket industry, I have a long

          3  experience in doing exactly that, and pricing items,

          4  and experiencing what it was like to have a shelf

          5  sticker that was out of date of illegible, and to

          6  have a consumer have to depend upon that shelf

          7  sticker does not protect the consumer.

          8                 As an example, my mother, the

          9  Councilman spoke about his experience when he shops,

         10  my mother is 83 years old. She goes into a

         11  supermarket to shop. She can't depend upon getting

         12  down on her knees to look at the shelf sticker on

         13  the bottom to see what that price is.

         14                 She picks up that can of tunafish, or

         15  she picks up that can of clam chowder, or whatever

         16  it is, she needs to know what that price is. And

         17  when she's home sitting in her chair having a cup of

         18  tea, she wants to look at her receipt and look at

         19  the price and make sure that everything is accurate.

         20  She's entitled to that. A senior citizen, people on

         21  a fixed income, people who are just starting out

         22  with their families that have limited income. But

         23  all of us as consumers, regardless of how much money

         24  we make, where we live, are entitled to be protected

         25  under the law.
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          2                 There was talk this morning about why

          3  increase the fines. For those employers, and those

          4  -- not employers, but those supermarket owners, who

          5  abide by the law, the increase in the fines doesn't

          6  affect them. But those stores that flagrantly

          7  violate the law, this will have an effect upon them.

          8                 Because you have a big box store, or

          9  whether you have a small grocery store, you, as a

         10  consumer, are you any less entitled to be protected,

         11  because you choose where you shop?

         12                 The gentleman that was here earlier

         13  represents Walgreens, and Duane Reade. Well, I have

         14  a particular interest in Duane Reade, you know, for

         15  a number of years we represent some 2,600 people in

         16  Duane Reade, and I will tell you about consumer

         17  affairs and the enforcement of the law in Duane

         18  Reade. And if you will look in the packet that you

         19  received, you will find that there are multi-million

         20  dollar fines levied in the State of Massachusetts

         21  against Walgreens for violations.

         22                 We, as New York City residents, as

         23  New York City consumers, are entitled to be

         24  protected under this law. Enforcement of this law,

         25  increased fines, increased activities by the
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          2  Consumer Affairs protects all of us.

          3                 Thank you very much. Any questions,

          4  Mr. Chairman?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED: I want to hear from

          6  everybody and then, because I think it works a

          7  little bit easier in terms of time.

          8                 So, whoever it is. And, again, I

          9  would appreciate it if we could, if it's been said,

         10  say amen, and tell me something different.

         11                 MR. MATTACE: Good afternoon, Mr.

         12  Chairman, and members of the Committee. I'm going to

         13  do this with a picture is a thousand words, is worth

         14  a thousand words. My name is Ernesto Mattace, from

         15  Local 338. I am a Vice President and Political

         16  Director.

         17                 It's easy to see that you could look

         18  at the sheet and you have individual sheets there of

         19  what you bought at your local supermarket. Now, as

         20  stated before, my mom used to do the same thing, and

         21  God love her, for the last 20 years of her life I

         22  took her shopping once a week.

         23                 We got home, she sat at that kitchen

         24  table and went through every item. Now, look at the

         25  items you have on your desk in front of you. It took
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          2  me approximately seven minutes to walk through the

          3  store, look at a shelf to make sure that at least

          4  half of the items were not marked, and take that

          5  item and put it in my wagon.

          6                 Now, I come home. Put that on my

          7  table. All you have is this. What if that package of

          8  juice sitting right there was marked ten cents

          9  higher? It could have been ten cents lower, but if

         10  there was a difference, how do you check? This is a

         11  wonderful tool, but it's useless if you don't know

         12  what the item is, and that's the bottom line.

         13                 I hope that was short and sweet

         14  enough. Amen.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED: You're going to the

         16  head of the class. You're going to give the lessons

         17  in how to be brief. Thank you.

         18                 MS. DE LEON: Good morning. I'm Gemma

         19  de Leon. I'm the Executive Vice President of Local

         20  1102 RWDSU. I am going to try to think outside the

         21  box. I'm going to tell you something different, and

         22  that is, you should consider expanding, actually

         23  expanding this legislation to include non-food

         24  retail. If you think about it, Target and Walmart,

         25  when they come in, sometimes they've got a separate
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          2  supermarket section and they've got a whole separate

          3  section on non-food retail. I'm wondering if there's

          4  a loophole in this law so they wouldn't have to

          5  comply for it. Because if you take a look at the

          6  definition of what this law covers, the type of

          7  retail establishment that this law covers, it

          8  describes the categories and they fall only into

          9  supermarket-type categories.

         10                 So, if Walmart comes in, are they

         11  going to come in and not only comply with the

         12  current law, but stop putting prices on items like

         13  toaster ovens and clothes, tires, and that will

         14  affect the rest of retail.

         15                 But I also want you to consider the

         16  impact on the service and fairness to the consumer.

         17  Jobs in the service sector are some of the fastest

         18  growing in the country and here in New York City, as

         19  you know, the retail industry and service jobs

         20  employed by it are a major part of our economy.

         21                 However, the reality is that the

         22  average consumer is getting less service and the

         23  quality is diminishing. Everything now is do it

         24  yourself. Retail conglomerates like Walmart and

         25  Target, they focus less on service and more on price
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          2  and the bottom line. So, this law actually helps the

          3  group that was here before, because if you're a

          4  small grocery store and you focus on service, you

          5  can't afford to give that service if a Walmart comes

          6  in, because Walmart lowers the level of service so

          7  the others that are trying to give the customer

          8  fairness and pricing and good service simply can't

          9  afford to do it.

         10                 So, I'd like everyone to consider

         11  that. Expanding it to the non-food retail.

         12                 A lot of the rest of my testimony has

         13  already been said, but I want you to consider when

         14  you go to Macy's and you buy a sweater, it says on

         15  the tag that it's 25.99, but when you get to the,

         16  when you get to the register, that price is never

         17  25.99, it's always something else. And everybody is

         18  usually surprised when they find out the true price

         19  of a sweater, right?

         20                 So, let's expand it so that it

         21  includes non-food retail, the price is really the

         22  price, and if it's on sale, put something on top of

         23  that section so that the customer really knows what

         24  the price is.

         25                 You know, if that sweater is moved to

                                                            92

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  another section of the department store, mayhem

          3  occurs. Nobody knows the price of that sweater. When

          4  did giving a simple piece of information to the

          5  consumer, the price of the item they're trying to

          6  buy, become outdated? Where do we draw the line? Not

          7  everything can be about the bottom line. Sometimes

          8  businesses should be forced to spend the extra buck

          9  to ensure that our citizens are treated fairly and

         10  honestly in the retail environment.

         11                 So, let's enact legislation in the

         12  City that protects are citizens, from bad service

         13  and lack of information that the giant retailers

         14  have made customary and standardized in the rest of

         15  the country, and let's item pricing legislation

         16  enforceable, and meaningful and let's expand it to

         17  include the non-food retail industry.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. Ms.

         20  Shelton.

         21                 MS. SHELTON: Hi. I'm Tracy Shelton.

         22  I'm a consumer attorney for the New York Public

         23  Interest Research Group, NYPIRG. NYPIRG has a long

         24  history of working on item pricing issues, from the

         25  consumers' perspective.
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          2                 There's nothing like item pricing. If

          3  we take it away, it would be a very bad thing for

          4  consumers.

          5                 It gives consumers an extra layer of

          6  protection when they're buying something very

          7  fundamental and important and that's food.

          8                 And, you know, where expanded into

          9  other areas that could also be good, but at least

         10  for food it's a very, very important consumer

         11  protection. It was very disturbing for me to hear

         12  today, that it was brought to you that there were

         13  places where there isn't item pricing anymore and we

         14  don't need item pricing anymore and all of that,

         15  because that's not, in my opinion, what we were here

         16  today about. We were here today about Intro. 442,

         17  which is about strengthening item pricing. And I

         18  commend the Committee, and especially Council Member

         19  Monserrate, for taking on this issue and looking at

         20  it. Because, you know, it's something we haven't

         21  really looked at since it was passed, in the early

         22  nineties. And this is a chance to look at it again,

         23  and to strengthen it and to make sure that it's

         24  there for a long time to protect New York City

         25  shoppers.
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          2                 It's important to me, both

          3  professionally, as an important consumer protection,

          4  and personally.

          5                 I'm a mother of two. I live in the

          6  Bronx, and I have, both my husband and I work for

          7  NYPIRG, and that's a not-for-profit organization, so

          8  you can imagine that we're not really swimming in

          9  money. So, I'm busy. I work, I've got two kids, the

         10  whole bit, and I don't have a lot of money. So, when

         11  I go to the grocery store, it's important for me to

         12  be able to find out what everything costs. To be

         13  able to add it up easily, to be able to keep track

         14  of it. When I get up to the register, to actually

         15  have the item in front of me with a price on it so

         16  that if it's scanned improperly, which does happen,

         17  I'm not, you know, having to stand there with my two

         18  kids while Harvey goes and checks in aisle whatever.

         19  I mean, the service is great that was talked about,

         20  that I wouldn't actually have to take the kids and

         21  go over to the aisle and struggle along the line of

         22  the people who are, you know, sitting there, you

         23  know, really mad at me, to go and check the item

         24  myself and then come back and then try to prove it

         25  or bring the entire shelf price? I don't know. But
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          2  whatever, I would have to do that myself, that

          3  somebody would actually go and do it for me is

          4  great, but it's still, it's a long wait. And then if

          5  this happens a couple of different times, you know,

          6  you're on line and you've got the kids and you've

          7  got all these other people behind you. You know, I

          8  think many, many consumers are likely to just throw

          9  their hands up in the air and say, forget it. I'll

         10  pay the extra how ever many dollars.

         11                 And that's just not fair, and that's

         12  why item pricing is extremely important, and I hope

         13  that the Council would never entertain any notions

         14  of trying to do away with it or in any way diminish

         15  it. But keep it as strong as it is now, and, you

         16  know, perhaps strengthen it and try to work with the

         17  Department of Consumer Affairs to better enforce it.

         18                 MR. SWANSON: Good afternoon, and

         19  thank you, Chairman Reed, Council members and the

         20  representatives from consumer advocacy groups,

         21  business and labor who are gathered here to discuss

         22  the important issue and policy question of item

         23  pricing in New York City.

         24                 My name is Kirk Swanson. And as a

         25  political director I'm here to testify on behalf of
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          2  Stuart Applebaum, President of the Retail, Wholesale

          3  and Department Store Union, a union that represents

          4  approximately 40,000 New Yorkers largely working in

          5  the retail sector.

          6                 Item pricing legislation as we know

          7  requires retailers to stamp or affix price to each

          8  consumer item offered for sale. The benefits of this

          9  important consumer protection are obvious. First,

         10  consumers can quickly and competently determine the

         11  price of products in supermarkets and convenience

         12  stores. This is of particular importance to senior

         13  citizens, the visually impaired and the disabled.

         14                 Second, it makes comparison shopping

         15  easy and helps consumers tally their carts while

         16  shopping.

         17                 Again, this is a boon to our seniors

         18  and disabled and necessary to those low-fixed

         19  incomes.

         20                 Third, item pricing provides

         21  consumers with the ability to check the accuracy of

         22  prices charged by register scanners that may be

         23  incorrectly programmed.

         24                 In comparison, the alternatives to

         25  item pricing, namely item scanners and shelf
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          2  labeling, become a consumer burden rather than a

          3  consumer protection.

          4                 Aisle scanners first require shoppers

          5  to locate them, then bring the items where they want

          6  to check those locations, check at those locations,

          7  and then wait in lines in some occasions to use

          8  them.

          9                 This makes comparison shopping

         10  particularly burdensome, especially for the elderly

         11  and the disabled.

         12                 Shelf labels require shoppers to lean

         13  down or to look way up to see prices, figure out

         14  abbreviations of product names, and wade through

         15  mis-shelved products.

         16                 Combined, aisle scanners and shelf

         17  prices, even when administered and implemented

         18  properly, still do not come close to providing the

         19  convenience and consideration to the consumer that

         20  item pricing does.

         21                 The technology of aisle and register

         22  scanners does not, by any stretch of the

         23  imagination, result in foolproof pricing.

         24                 In fact, scanner accuracy inspection

         25  regimes can allow stores to overcharge, as we've
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          2  heard on a number of occasions today, for up to two

          3  percent of stock items. Over the course of a year

          4  this can result in millions of dollars lifted from

          5  the pockets of consumers.

          6                 Item pricing legislation would

          7  prevent the complete reliance on scanners and shelf

          8  labels. It would also further support consumer

          9  rights by toughening an enforcement mechanism that

         10  help ensure accurate pricing.

         11                 Through item pricing legislation, we

         12  stop efforts aimed at replacing consumer

         13  protections, with consumer burdens.

         14                 Through item pricing legislation, we

         15  empower all of New York's consumers. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you. The

         17  whole panel gets an award for timeliness. Sometimes

         18  your points are better made in a short space of

         19  time.

         20                 Mr. Swanson, especially as you were

         21  testifying, and all of you made interesting points,

         22  but I was struck about another problem that I think

         23  you raised, which is the short hand that's used on

         24  the store, puts these things down here, which is a

         25  language barrier for so many people, and, you know,
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          2  so many communities that we have people are, their

          3  English is limited. So, trying to not only look at

          4  that and interpret what the shorthand is makes it

          5  even more complicated to figure out what the price

          6  is. When we can all, you know, whether you speak

          7  English or not, if it says 89 cents, you understand

          8  what 89 cents is. So, I just think that there's

          9  another point here to be looking at this.

         10                 I was concerned, and you know, I try

         11  to be supportive of the Department of Consumer

         12  Affairs, I don't see my job as a Chair of this

         13  Committee just to be, you know, to beat on them. I

         14  don't think they have enough resources to do the job

         15  as well as they should be able to, which is the

         16  concern that I'd raise in terms of the suggestion

         17  that Mr. Halperin made about a special fund. We just

         18  don't have that. It would be great, but we don't

         19  have that ability. So, we're always seeing budgets

         20  stripped. We don't see them putting money back in

         21  for enforcement, which is often times the problem.

         22  I'm still not quite sure what this low level of

         23  complaints that they mentioned. I guess my question

         24  to all of you briefly is if you care to comment, you

         25  know, they were saying they're not sure there's a
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          2  need for us to increase this because only, I forget

          3  what the number was, some small number, item pricing

          4  violations were issued to 63 supermarkets out of

          5  1,629. So, the good news is that most of them are

          6  complying?

          7                 MR. DURSO: If I may, Mr. Chairman?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Just for the record

          9  let us know who you are.

         10                 MR. DURSO: Okay. My name is John

         11  Durso, I'm President of Local 338.

         12                 The consumer affairs in their

         13  remarks, a couple of items. They mention a low level

         14  of complaints to consumer affairs. But having served

         15  as a grocery manager, assistant manager, store

         16  manager, I will tell you that the amount or

         17  complaints are very high. They don't call Consumer

         18  Affairs. They go to the store and they complain.

         19  Okay? And while you take care of the customers as

         20  best you can, and having served as a union

         21  representative in supermarkets for some 20 years, I

         22  will tell you that the consumers complain to the

         23  supermarkets. There is not a high level where they

         24  go to the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         25                 I would say she's right upon that,
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          2  but she's not checking with the store owners. Not

          3  that the store owners are going to tell the

          4  Department of Consumer Affairs we're getting a lot

          5  of complaints, okay?

          6                 And I have to just make one quick

          7  comment, and Council Member Koppell jumped on it,

          8  because I almost came off my seat, when the

          9  Department of Consumer Affairs, who I believe is

         10  charged with protecting the consumer, refers to it

         11  as not an entitlement, item pricing, there's

         12  something basically wrong there, that that

         13  department, which is charged protecting the

         14  consumer, doesn't feel that the law that is already

         15  written makes our consumers, our public, an

         16  entitlement.

         17                 There's something wrong some place in

         18  that Department and in that leadership, that that is

         19  allowed to happen.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you, all.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I just might

         23  observe, because everybody talked about grandmothers

         24  looking at these slips, people other than

         25  grandmothers check their shopping slip. I must say
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          2  that while I don't do it all the time --

          3                 MR. DURSO: Grandfather.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Grandfathers

          5  and even younger fathers and mothers check the

          6  shopping slip when they get home and are often

          7  concerned, especially now with the new scanners, or

          8  relatively new scanners, because the checkout

          9  process is so quick that it's very difficult to

         10  follow and see what's going on. And, so, the ability

         11  to afterward just check to be sure is important and

         12  mistakes are made.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: And I think Ms.

         14  Shelton perhaps raised this, a certain of

         15  intimidation people feel when they're in the store

         16  and they don't want to question things. Many people

         17  do wait til they get home to see. There's a line,

         18  they're late, and, so, you don't just automatically

         19  suggest things, and as Councilman Koppell said,

         20  things move speedily in a lot of the stores, it's

         21  hard to even see on the register what they've wrung

         22  up. Some of the stores have the two-way sort of led

         23  readouts, so you can see the number, and then some

         24  of them don't. So you really have to sort of look

         25  around and see what is it that the person is ringing
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          2  up, and it just may be that they're making a

          3  mistake. I think that's overwhelming, and I'm not so

          4  sure it's deliberate.

          5                 I want to thank everybody. I always

          6  try to bring these hearings in under two hours, and

          7  so given what time we started, I think I'm only a

          8  few minutes late.

          9                 We are going to look at some of the

         10  ideas people put forward, certainly talk to the

         11  prime sponsor and the sponsors of the bill and see

         12  if we can make this a better bill, but I think we're

         13  on the right track in terms of the concept that

         14  we're trying to provide here with legislation.

         15                 And, again, I would encourage people

         16  if there were some cost savings that they want to

         17  present, that they were going to hand over to the

         18  consumer and there is a way for us to recognize that

         19  cost savings, they should let us know next time we

         20  have a hearing.

         21                 Seeing no one else, this hearing is

         22  adjourned. Thank you very much.

         23                 (Hearing concluded at 12:15 p.m.)
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